

# ORCA - Online Research @ Cardiff

This is an Open Access document downloaded from ORCA, Cardiff University's institutional repository:https://orca.cardiff.ac.uk/id/eprint/127015/

This is the author's version of a work that was submitted to / accepted for publication.

Citation for final published version:

Short, E. and Sampson, J. 2019. The role of inherited genetic variants in colorectal polyposis syndromes. Advances in Genetics 103, pp. 183-217. 10.1016/bs.adgen.2018.11.002

Publishers page: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/bs.adgen.2018.11.002

#### Please note:

Changes made as a result of publishing processes such as copy-editing, formatting and page numbers may not be reflected in this version. For the definitive version of this publication, please refer to the published source. You are advised to consult the publisher's version if you wish to cite this paper.

This version is being made available in accordance with publisher policies. See http://orca.cf.ac.uk/policies.html for usage policies. Copyright and moral rights for publications made available in ORCA are retained by the copyright holders.



# The Role of Inherited Mutations in

# Colorectal Polyposis Syndromes

Short E\*§, Sampson J\*×

- \* Cardiff University, Cardiff, United Kingdom
- § Department of Cellular Pathology, University Hospital of Wales, Cardiff, United Kingdom
- x Corresponding author: <a href="mailto:sampson@cardiff.ac.uk">sampson@cardiff.ac.uk</a>

# **Key Words**

Colorectal Cancer

Colorectal Polyposis

Adenomas

Hyperplastic Polyps

Hamartomatous Polyps

Familial Adenomatous Polyposis

MUTYH-Associated Polyposis

Polymerase Proofreading Associated Polyposis

NTHL1-Associated Polyposis

MSH3-Associated Polyposis

# Contents

1.	Introduction	4
1.1	Chromosomal Instability (CIN), APC and the Wnt-Pathway	5
1.1.1	Adenomatous Polyposis Coli (APC)	5
1.1.2	The Wnt Pathway	6
1.1.3	KRAS, SMAD4 and P53	8
1.2	Microsatellite Instability (MSI)	g
1.3	CpG Island Methylator Phenotype (CIMP)	11
2.	The Colorectal Polyposis Syndromes	12
2.1	Colorectal Adenomas	13
2.1.1	Familial Adenomatous Polyposis (FAP)	14
2.1.2	MUTYH-Associated Polyposis (MAP)	15
2.1.3	Polymerase Proofreading Associated Polyposis (PPAP)	18
2.1.4	NTHL1-Associated Polyposis	19
2.1.5	MSH3-Associated Polyposis	20
2.2	Hyperplastic Polyps (HPPs)	20
2.2.2	Serrated Polyposis Syndrome	21
2.3	Hamartomatous Polyps	23
2.3.1	Peutz- Jegher's Syndrome (PJS)	24
2.3.2	Familial Juvenile Polyposis Syndrome	25
2.3.3	Cowden's Syndrome	26

2.4	Hereditary Mixed Polyposis Syndrome (HMPS)	27
3.	Clinical Management of Patients with Colorectal Polyposis	28
4.	'Unexplained' Colorectal Polyposis	28
4.1	Promoter Variants and Allelic Imbalance (AI)	29
4.2	Intronic Variants	31
4.3	Untranslated Region (UTR) Variants	32
4.4	Mosaicism	33
4.5	The Involvement of Additional Genes	35
5.	Summary	35
Acknowledgements		36
References		36

### **Abstract**

Colorectal carcinoma (CRC) is the third most common cancer in men and the second most common cancer in women across the world. Most CRCs occur sporadically, but in 15-35% of cases, hereditary factors are important. Some patients with an inherited predisposition to CRC will be diagnosed with a 'genetic polyposis syndrome' such as Familial Adenomatous Polyposis (FAP), MUTYH-Associated Polyposis (MAP), Polymerase Proofreading Associated Polyposis (PPAP), NTHL1-Associated Polyposis, MSH3-Associated Polyposis or a hamartomatous polyposis syndrome. Individuals with >/= 10 colorectal polyps have traditionally been referred for genetic diagnostic testing aiming to identify APC and MUTYH mutations which cause FAP and MAP respectively. Mutations are found in most patients with >100 adenomas but in only a minority of those with 10-100

adenomas. The reasons that diagnostic laboratories are not identifying pathogenic variants include mutations occurring outside of the open reading frames of genes, individuals exhibiting generalised mosaicism and the involvement of additional genes. It is important to identify patients with an inherited polyposis syndrome, and to define the mutations causing their polyposis, so that the individuals and their relatives can be managed appropriately.

## 1. Introduction

Across the globe, colorectal carcinoma (CRC) is the third most common cancer in men and the second most common cancer in women (Ferlay *et al* 2013). An individual's lifetime risk of developing CRC is 5%, but this figure increases dramatically with age (reviewed in Fodde 2002). The incidence of CRC is generally high in developed countries, with a 20-fold difference in incidence rates between high- and low-risk geographical areas (reviewed in Fodde 2002). The difference is thought to largely result from environmental factors, in particular differences in diet (Fodde 2002).

The majority of CRCs occur sporadically, but in 15-35% of patients, hereditary factors are important (reviewed in Mishra and Hall 2012; Burt 2007). In approximately 5% of cases, the disease is caused by a highly penetrant dominantly inherited syndrome (reviewed in Mishra and Hall 2012). The most common is Lynch Syndrome, due to inherited defects in the mismatch repair (MMR) system. This accounts for 2-5% of cases of CRC (reviewed in Mishra and Hall 2012). Familial Adenomatous Polyposis (FAP), due to germline mutations in the *APC* gene, is responsible for <1% of the disease burden and non-syndromic familial presentations comprise 20% of cases (reviewed in Mishra and Hall 2012).

CRCs result from the progressive accumulation of genetic and epigenetic alterations which cause normal colonic epithelium to transform into adenocarcinoma

(Grady and Carethers 2008). Recent work based on gene expression profiling (Guinney *et al* 2015) suggests that CRC can be classified into 4 molecular subtypes: MSI Immune, Canonical, Metabolic and Mesenchymal. However, the traditional approach has been to categorise tumors into 3 groups: those with chromosomal instability (CIN), those with microsatellite instability (MSI) and those with a hypermethylated phenotype (CpG Island Methylator Phenotype or 'CIMP'). There is considerable overlap between the latter two groups.

# 1.1 Chromosomal Instability (CIN), APC and the Wnt-Pathway

The vast majority of CRCs develop from pre-existing adenomas. Such lesions are characterised by chromosomal instability, which is seen in 80-85% of colorectal tumors (reviewed in Grady and Carethers 2008). There are certain key genetic mutational events which occur, allowing the progression from normal epithelium, to dysplasia, and finally invasive malignancy. The loss of adenomatous polyposis coli (*APC*) gene function seems to be the initiating event, followed by mutations in *KRAS*, *SMAD4* and *p53* (Fodde 2002). In keeping with Knudson's two hit hypothesis of tumorigenesis, two mutational events are required to knock out the functioning of a tumor suppressor gene (Knudson 1971), whilst activation of an oncogene requires only one mutation.

# 1.1.1 Adenomatous Polyposis Coli (APC)

The *APC* gene is found on chromosome 5 (5q21). It consists of 8535 coding base pairs, encoding a 2843 amino acid multidomain protein. Exon 15 is responsible for more than 75% of the coding sequence of the gene and is the most common site for germline and somatic mutations (reviewed in Fearnhead *et al* 2002; reviewed in Fearnhead *et al* 2001). 95% of CRC-associated *APC* mutations are

nonsense or frameshift mutations, creating a truncated protein with abnormal function (Bodmer 1999).

The APC protein is a 312kDa tumor suppressor, which is involved in many cellular processes including intercellular adhesion, signal transduction, proliferation, apoptosis and migration. One of its major roles is in regulating cytoplasmic levels of β-catenin, thus negatively regulating Wnt signalling (Mishra and Hall 2012; reviewed in Fearnhead *et al* 2002; Fodde 2002; Fearnhead *et al* 2001).

### 1.1.2 The Wnt Pathway

The Wnt proteins are a family of signalling proteins which are involved in developmental events during embryogenesis and in adult tissue homeostasis (Logan and Nusse 2004). They have multiple effects within a cell, including triggering cell division, cell fate specification and differentiation (Logan and Nusse 2004).

Wnt proteins bind to Frizzled/ low density lipoprotein receptor-related proteins, which are found on cell surface membranes (Logan and Nusse 2004). This transduces a signal to intracellular proteins, including Dishevelled (Dsh), Glycogen Synthase Kinase-3β (GSK-3), AXIN, APC and β-catenin (Logan and Nusse 2004). In the absence of Wnt signalling, β-catenin levels are usually low: a complex composed of GSK-3, APC and AXIN targets it for ubiquitin-mediated degradation (Logan and Nusse 2004; reviewed in Fearnhead *et al* 2002; reviewed in Fearnhead *et al* 2001). When cells receive Wnt signals, the degradation pathway is inhibited. This allows β-catenin to accumulate in the cytoplasm and nucleus. In the nucleus, it complexes with one of the T cell factor (TCF) or lymphoid enhancer factor (LEF) transcription factors, to initiate transcription of a range of genes, including c-*myc* and *cyclin D1* (Logan and Nusse 2004; reviewed in Fearnhead *et al* 2002; reviewed in Fodde 2002; reviewed in Fearnhead *et al* 2001). *Myc* and *cyclin D1* are both

relevant to tumorigenesis as they have roles in proliferation, apoptosis and cellcycle progression (reviewed in Fodde 2002).

In the normal intestinal epithelium, nuclear  $\beta$ -catenin expression is higher in the proliferative component, and APC levels are higher in post-replicative cells (reviewed in Fodde 2002). These findings support  $\beta$ -catenin signalling having a role in maintaining stem cell properties and controlling differentiation in the bowel (reviewed in Fodde 2002). As cells move along the crypt-villous axis, increasing levels of APC counteract  $\beta$ -catenin signalling and allow differentiation to occur (reviewed in Fodde 2002). *APC* mutations hence allow increased numbers of stem cells and reduced cellular differentiation (Fodde 2002).

In addition to their roles in the initial stages of the adenoma-carcinoma sequence, *APC* mutations remain important throughout malignant progression. Nuclear β-catenin staining strongly correlates with tumor size and dysplasia, and high levels of nuclear β-catenin have been found at the invasive fronts of adenocarcinomas (reviewed in Fodde 2002). The APC protein is also involved in chromosomal stability at mitosis: it has an EB1-binding domain in its C-terminal end, which associates with the growing ends of cytoplasmic and spindle microtubules, as well as centrosomes. *APC* mutant cells are hence characterised by chromosomal instability which is observed in the majority of CRCs (reviewed in Grady and Carethers 2008; reviewed in Fodde 2002).

APC mutations can therefore be seen to have a key role in both initiating and promoting CRC: activation of the Wnt pathway affects cell proliferation, apoptosis, and possibly differentiation of intestinal stem cells (Fodde 2002) and at later stages of carcinogenesis, CIN resulting from APC mutations can accelerate tumor progression (Fodde 2002).

### 1.1.3 KRAS, SMAD4 and P53

Further genes involved in colorectal tumorigenesis include *KRAS*, *SMAD4*, and *p53*. The importance of *ras* gene mutations in colorectal carcinogenesis was first reported in 1987 (Bos *et al* 1987; Forrester *et al* 1987). The *K-ras* oncogene has been found to be mutated in 10-15% of adenomas <1cm, and in 30-60% of adenomas >1cm and carcinomas (reviewed in Brink *et al* 2003; reviewed in Fearon and Vogelstein 1990). The gene encodes a 21kDA protein located in the inner plasma membrane, with intrinsic GTPase activity. It is involved in the transduction of mitogenic signals (reviewed in Brink *et al* 2003). It is activated by a diverse spectrum of extracellular stimuli, such as growth factors, cytokines and hormones (reviewed in Brink *et al* 2003; Shields *et al* 2000). Once activated, it stimulates a multitude of downstream signalling cascades, including the Raf serine/threonine kinases, phosphoinositide 3-kinases (PI3Ks) and a family of GDP-GTP exchange factors (reviewed in Shields *et al* 2000).

Mutant KRAS has impaired GTPase activity, meaning that it is constitutively active (reviewed in Brink *et al* 2003). This can cause uncontrolled cell growth and proliferation. A *KRAS* mutation in a colonic epithelial cell which already has *APC* mutations results in a clonal expansion and increased risk of progression to cancer (reviewed in Vogelstein and Kinzler 2004).

The *SMAD4* gene is on chromosome 18q. It was first identified as a tumor suppressor gene in pancreatic cancer in 1996 (Hahn *et al* 1996). *SMAD4* mediates the TGFβ signalling pathway to suppress epithelial growth (reviewed in Miyaki and Kuroki 2003). The SMAD4 protein acts as a trimer and forms complexes with additional SMAD proteins: receptor-phosphorylated SMAD2 and SMAD3 (Woodford-Richens *et al* 2001). These complexes then translocate from the cytoplasm to the nucleus and associate with DNA binding factors to facilitate the transcription of target genes, including cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors such as

p15(ink4B) and the inhibitory SMAD7 (Woodford-Richens *et al* 2001). Loss of SMAD4 function may result in the loss of transcription of genes necessary for cell-cycle control (Woodford-Richens *et al* 2001). Cells may therefore become TGF-β resistant and escape from TGF-β-mediated growth control and apoptosis (Woodford-Richens *et al* 2001). *SMAD4* is mutated in a significant proportion of colorectal tumors, with the frequency of mutational events increasing with the progression of carcinogenesis: it is mutated in 0% of adenomas, 10% of 'intramucosal carcinomas', 7% of carcinomas without metastases and 35% of carcinomas with distant metastases (reviewed in Miyaki and Kuroki 2003).

In 1988, it was reported that 73% of CRCs, 47% of 'advanced adenomas' and 11-13% of 'early stage adenomas' had a deletion of part of chromosome 17 (Vogelstein *et al* 1988). This region was subsequently shown to include the *p53* gene (17p13.1) (Baker *et al* 1989). The p53 protein is a transcription factor which has a vital role in maintaining genomic stability (reviewed in Sarasqueta *et al* 2013). Following DNA damage, p53 activation causes arrest of the cell cycle to allow DNA repair (reviewed in Sarasqueta *et al* 2013). If the damage is too extensive, p53 can drive a cell towards senescence or apoptosis (reviewed in Sarasqueta *et al* 2013; reviewed in Vogelstein and Kinzler 2004). The functional loss of p53 is a key event in the malignant progression of a colorectal adenoma to CRC (reviewed in lacopetta 2003; Vogelstein *et al* 1988).

# 1.2 Microsatellite Instability (MSI)

The human mismatch repair system (MMR) involves 7 key genes: hMSH2, hMSH6, hMSH3, hMLH1, hPMS1, hPMS2 and hMLF3. Their protein products are able to recognise and repair nucleotide mismatches, which have escaped the normal editing function of DNA polymerase (reviewed in Grady and Carethers 2008). If such mismatches are not repaired, nucleotide transitions or transversions

result, allowing potentially oncogenic mutations to occur more frequently, leading to a 'hypermutable phenotype' (reviewed in Grady and Carethers 2008).

Lynch Syndrome (LS) is an autosomal dominant (AD) disease, which accounts for approximately 5% of cases of CRC (reviewed in Mishra and Hall 2012). Patients also have an inherited predisposition to a range of other malignancies, in particular endometrial carcinoma (Lynch *et al* 2015). LS occurs due to inherited mutations of *hMSH2*, *hMSH6*, *hMLH1* or *hPMS2* (reviewed in Grady and Carethers 2008). In 15-20% of sporadic colon cancers, inactivation of the mismatch repair (MMR) system occurs, either though methylation of *MLH1* or point mutations in *MLH1/MSH2*/other members of the MMR family (reviewed in Grady and Carethers 2008). This leads to microsatellite instability (MSI).

It is thought that certain key tumor suppressor genes drive the pathogenesis of MSI tumors, and these are different to those which are mutated in CIN tumors (reviewed in Grady and Carethers 2008). In around 85% of colorectal tumors with MSI, a repeat of 10 adenines undergoes a frameshift mutation in the *TGFBR2* gene. This allows tumor cells to escape the growth suppressing effects of TGF-β1 (reviewed in Grady and Carethers 2008). Another gene commonly mutated in MSI CRC is *BAX*, which plays a role in apoptosis. It is mutated in 50% of MSI CRC, allowing immortalisation of cells (reviewed in Grady and Carethers 2008). Interestingly, frameshift mutations within coding mononucleotide repeats are also seen in *APC* (reviewed in Lynch *et al* 2015).

MSI CRCs tend to have a certain clinical and pathological phenotype. They generally occur in the right side of the colon, and microscopically they have a mucinous appearance with large numbers of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (reviewed in Grady and Carethers 2008).

# 1.3 CpG Island Methylator Phenotype (CIMP)

Epigenetic regulation of gene expression can be achieved through methylation of CpG islands found in gene promoters, causing silencing of the downstream gene. Such silencing of tumor suppressors and/or DNA repair genes is a common feature of human neoplasia (reviewed in Hughes *et al* 2012). Widespread CpG island promoter methylation is referred to as the CpG island methylator phenotype (CIMP) and was first described in 1999 (Toyota *et al* 1999). The cause of CIMP remains to be elucidated but may potentially result from aberrant *de novo* methylation or through the loss of protection against *de novo* methylation (reviewed in Toyota *et al* 1999). Environmental factors, such as anthropometry and physical activity, smoking and alcohol may also play a role (reviewed in Hughes *et al* 2012).

CRC which exhibit CIMP are thought to arise via the 'serrated pathway of neoplasia'. The precursor lesions are hyperplastic polyps, rather than adenomas, and an early event is a mutation of the *BRAF* oncogene (reviewed in Guarinos *et al* 2012). BRAF is a component of the MAPK signalling pathway. The pathway involves activation of cell membrane signalling molecules with subsequent stimulation of cytoplasmic protein kinases (Seger and Krebs 1995). The transmitted signals eventually activate cellular processes such as proliferation, differentiation and development (Seger and Krebs 1995). Activating mutations of BRAF increase its kinase activity, which drives the proliferation of malignant cells (reviewed in Bollag *et al* 2012).

Most CIMP CRCs have epigenetic silencing of *MLH1*, leading to microsatellite instability (reviewed in Hughes *et al* 2012), and may have silencing of tumor suppressor genes such as *p16* (Toyota *et al* 1999).

Typically, CIMP tumors are associated with older age, female sex and occurrence in the right side of the bowel (reviewed in Hughes *et al* 2012), as is seen with MSI CRC.

# 2. The Colorectal Polyposis Syndromes

Colorectal polyps are masses of tissue which are found projecting from the mucosa of the large bowel. They are classified according to their microscopic appearance, and include adenomas, hyperplastic polyps and hamartomatous polyps (Figure 1). Most polyps occur sporadically, but some are seen as part of a genetic 'polyposis syndrome' (Figure 2). Colorectal polyps are benign but are clinically significant as they may confer a risk of malignancy.

#### [Insert Figure 1]

Figure 1: Haematoxylin and Eosin (H&E) microscopic images of colorectal polyps

A: Tubular adenoma with low grade dysplasia

B: Hyperplastic polyp: note the presence of glands in the centre of the image with a serrated/ 'tooth like' appearance

C: A Peutz-Jegher's polyp. The glands are separated by bundles of smooth muscle

D: A juvenile polyp. Cystically dilated glands are present in an odematous and inflamed stroma

Image from Short et al 2015

### [Insert Figure 2]

Figure 2: Diagram illustrating relationships between genes and signalling pathways involved in inherited colorectal cancer syndromes. Key: FAP: Familial Adenomatous Polyposis; HMPS: Hereditary Mixed Polyposis Syndrome; JPS: Juvenile Polyposis Syndrome; LS: Lynch Syndrome; MAP: *MUTYH*-Associated Polyposis; NTHL1: *NTHL1*-Associated Polyposis; PPAP:

Polymerase Proofreading Associated Polyposis; PJS: Peutz Jegher's Syndrome.

Image from Short et al 2015

#### 2.1 Colorectal Adenomas

Colorectal adenomas are common. They are found in between 1.72% and 63% of autopsies (Pendergrass *et al* 2008; Paspatis *et al* 2001; Correa *et al* 1977; Arminski and McLean 1964; Chapman 1963). In asymptomatic patients undergoing colonoscopies, adenoma prevalence is between 6.3% and 41% (Chung *et al* 2010; Rundle *et al* 2008; Lin *et al* 2006; Strul *et al* 2006; Soon *et al* 2005; reviewed in Giacosa 2004; Yamaji *et al* 2004; DiSario *et al* 1991). They occur more frequently in males than in females, and their prevalence increases with age (Chung *et al* 2010; Pendergrass *et al* 2008; Lin *et al* 2006; Strul *et al* 2006; Soon *et al* 2005; Yamaji *et al* 2004; Paspatis *et al* 2001; DiSario *et al* 1991; Correa *et al* 1977; Chapman 1963).

The significance of colorectal adenomas is that they are pre-malignant lesions. The majority of colorectal CRCs are thought to develop from pre-existing adenomas. The probability that an adenoma will become malignant depends upon its size, morphology and degree of dysplasia. Large villous lesions harbouring high grade dysplasia confer the highest risk (Terry *et al* 2002; O'Brien *et al* 1990; Shinya and Wolff 1979; Muto *et al* 1975).

Most colorectal adenomas occur sporadically. However, there are syndromes of colorectal polyposis, in which patients develop multiple polyps as a result of an underlying genetic mutation. These include Familial Adenomatous Polyposis (FAP), *MUTYH*-Associated Polyposis (MAP), Polymerase Proofreading-

Associated Polyposis (PPAP), *NTHL1*-Associated Polyposis/CRC and *MSH3*-Associated Polyposis/CRC.

### 2.1.1 Familial Adenomatous Polyposis (FAP)

FAP is a dominantly inherited Mendelian trait, in which patients develop hundreds to thousands of colorectal adenomas during adolescence or the third decade of life (reviewed in Fearnhead *et al* 2002; Bodmer 1999). All such patients will invariably develop CRC if they are left untreated (Bodmer 1999; reviewed in Fearnhead *et al* 2002).

The first case of histologically verified adenomatous polyposis was published in 1881 by Sklifasowski (reviewed in Bülow *et al* 2006). The following year Harrison-Cripps described 'disseminated polypus of the rectum' in two teenage siblings, both of whom had 20-30 colorectal polyps (reviewed in Bülow *et al* 2006; Harrison-Cripps 1882). In the late 1800s there were numerous case reports describing patients with multiple colorectal adenomas, and an association with colorectal malignancy was noted (reviewed in Bülow *et al* 2006). In 1925, Lockhart-Mummery stated that the 'condition of multiple adenomata was invariably antecedent to carcinoma' and that 'the condition of multiple adenomata is often hereditary in a marked degree' (Lockhart-Mummery 1925).

It is now known that FAP, and an attenuated form of the disease, AFAP, are due to germline or somatic mosaic mutations in *APC*. Over 1500 different mutations in *APC* have been identified to date (Kadiyska *et al* 2013). The majority of mutations are inherited. It used to be thought that approximately one quarter of cases occurred *de novo* (reviewed in Fearnhead *et al* 2001), but this is an overestimate, as this figure included apparent *de novo* patients who actually had *MUTYH*-Associated Polyposis (MAP). A third of all germline mutations occur at codons 1061 and 1309, with the remainder spread relatively uniformly between

codons 200 and 1600 (reviewed in Fearnhead *et al* 2001). The nature of the germline mutation determines the nature of the second somatic hit to APC (reviewed in Fearnhead *et al* 2002; reviewed in Fearnhead *et al* 2001). Germline mutations occurring between codons 1194 and 1392 tend to be followed by allelic loss of APC as a second hit (loss of heterozygosity, LOH), whereas germline mutations lying outside of this region tend to be associated with truncating mutations in the mutation cluster region (MCR) between codons 1286 and 1513 (reviewed in Fearnhead *et al* 2002). The reason for this may be related to the resultant level or functional characteristics of APC protein produced: it is proposed that to allow efficient tumorigenesis, the function of APC must be impaired sufficiently to allow a certain level of nuclear  $\beta$ -catenin accumulation, but that  $\beta$ -catenin levels must not be too great, or this can result in apoptosis (Albuquerque *et al* 2002).

The incidence of FAP is approximately 1 per 8000, and it accounts for around 0.5% - 1% of CRC (Mishra and Hall 2012; reviewed in Fearnhead *et al* 2002; reviewed in Bodmer 1999). In addition to colorectal adenomas, FAP patients may develop extra-intestinal manifestations of their disease, for example congenital hypertrophy of the retinal pigment epithelium (CHRPE), duodenal and periampullary tumors, desmoid tumors, papillary carcinoma of the thyroid, medulloblastoma, hepatoblastoma, osteomas and epidermoid cysts (Mishra and Hall 2012; reviewed in Fearnhead *et al* 2002).

# 2.1.2 *MUTYH*-Associated Polyposis (MAP)

Prior to 2002, inherited defects of base excision had not been associated with any human genetic disorder (Al-Tassan *et al* 2002). That year, mutations in the *MUTYH* gene were shown to cause an inherited predisposition to colorectal tumors (Al-Tassan *et al* 2002).

The *MUTYH* gene is located on the short arm of chromosome 1 (1p32.1-p34.3) (Poulsen and Bisgaard 2008). It consists of 16 exons and encodes a protein of 535 amino acids, the MUTYH glycosylase (Poulsen and Bisgaard 2008). MUTYH glycosylase is part of the base excision repair (BER) system. It is involved in repairing DNA mismatches occurring as a result of oxidative DNA damage (Mazzei *et al* 2013). Each human cell metabolises approximately 10 <sup>12</sup> molecules of oxygen per day (reviewed in Nohmi *et al* 2005). About 1% of oxygen metabolism results in the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) which include superoxide, hydrogen peroxide, hydroxyl radicals and singlet oxygen (reviewed in Nohmi *et al* 2005). ROS can damage DNA, producing 8-hydroxyguanine (8-oxodG). This frequently pairs with dAMP. Under normal circumstances, this mispairing would be repaired by MUTYH, to create C: 8-oxodG base pairs. Another enzyme, OGG1 will then remove the 8-oxodG. Hence the combined effects of MUTYH and OGG1 will prevent GC > TA transversions (Mazzei *et al* 2013).

Patients with biallelic germline *MUTYH* mutations are predisposed to mutations in genes including *APC* and *KRAS*. The clinical manifestation of this is MAP. MAP is an autosomal recessive (AR) disease, in which patients develop multiple colorectal adenomas. The mean age of diagnosis is 45-50 years, and patients typically have between 10 and 100 polyps (reviewed in Mazzei *et al* 2013; reviewed in Poulsen and Bisgarrd 2008; Croitoru *et al* 2007; Nielsen *et al* 2007; Gismondi *et al* 2004; Wang *et al* 2004; Sampson *et al* 2003; Sieber *et al* 2003). Some patients do not develop polyps but present with cancer (Farrington *et al* 2005; Wang *et al* 2004; Enholm *et al* 2003). Although the majority of polyps are adenomas, hyperplastic polyps (HPPs) and sessile serrated adenomas (SSAs) are also seen (reviewed in Mazzei *et al* 2013; Boparai *et al* 2008; Lipton *et al* 2003a).

Patients with MAP have an increased risk of developing CRC. Malignancy has been reported with varying frequencies: one paper reported a prevalence of 19.47% at 50 years, and 42.89% at 60 years (Lubbe *et al* 2009); another found that

48% of patients with MAP developed CRC with a mean age of diagnosis of 49.7 years (Sampson *et al* 2003). It has been suggested that biallelic inactivation of *MUTYH* imparts an overall 93-fold excess risk and that all homozygotes/ compound heterozygotes will develop CRC by age 60 (Farrington *et al* 2005). Win *et al* (2014) estimated that males carrying biallelic *MUTYH* mutations had a 75.4% risk of developing CRC by age 70, and females had a 71.7% risk (Win *et al* 2014).

MAP may also have extra-colonic manifestations, although these are generally not part of the characteristic phenotype (Poulsen and Bisgaard 2008). The lesions which have been reported include duodenal adenomas and carcinoma, fundic gland polyps, stomach cancer, CHRPE, osteomas and breast cancer (reviewed in Venesio *et al* 2012; reviewed in Poulsen and Bisgaard 2008). The incidence of extra-intestinal malignancies is almost double that of the general population, with a significant increase in ovarian, bladder and skin cancers (reviewed in Venesio *et al* 2012).

By 2013, >300 *MUTYH* variants among MAP patients and/or controls had been described (Ruggieri *et al* 2013). The mutations observed in *MUTYH* vary according to the ethnic group studied, suggesting population specific ancestral variants (Dolwani *et al* 2007; Sieber *et al* 2003). In Caucasian populations, Y165C and G382D are the common mutations (Jones *et al* 2002; Sampson *et al* 2003; Enholm *et al* 2003; Sieber *et al* 2003). These account for 73% of all mutations reported and have been described in Swiss (Russell *et al* 2006), Italian (Gismondi *et al* 2004; Venesio *et al* 2004), French (Küry *et al* 2007), Swedish (Kanter-Smoler *et al* 2006; Zhou *et al* 2005), Canadian (Croitoru *et al* 2007), Australian (Kairupan *et al* 2005), Portuguese (Isidro *et al* 2004), Czech (Šulová *et al* 2007), British, American and Dutch populations (reviewed in Cheadle and Sampson 2007). There is evidence for strong founder effects for these mutations: it is suggested that they derive from ancestors who lived between 5-8000 years and 6-9000 years BC respectively (Aretz *et al* 2014).

Numerous other pathogenic variants in *MUTYH* have been reported, including g.1395delGGA in Italians (Gismondi *et al* 2004), E466X and Y90X in Asians (Sampson *et al* 2003; Jones *et al* 2002) and R231C in the Japanese (Miyaki *et al* 2005).

# 2.1.3 Polymerase Proofreading Associated Polyposis (PPAP)

PPAP is a relatively recently defined clinical entity. *POLE* and *POLD1* code for DNA polymerases with exonuclease (proofreading) activity. Mutations in these genes are thought to cause a defect in correcting mispaired bases inserted during DNA replication (Palles *et al* 2013). In 2012, Palles *et al* undertook whole-genome sequencing of probands who had at least 10 colorectal adenomas by age 60, who had previously had known Mendelian cancer syndromes excluded in a clinical diagnostic setting. They also sequenced several affected relatives (Palles *et al* 2013). The group found that a genetic variant, *POLE* p.Leu242Val, was associated with multiple colorectal adenomas and carcinoma (Palles *et al* 2013). The trait showed dominant inheritance, with high penetrance (Palles *et al* 2013). Another variant, *POLD1* p.Ser478Asn, predisposed to colorectal tumors, endometrial cancer, and possibly brain tumors (Palles *et al* 2013).

In 2014, Valle *et al* sought to determine the prevalence of these mutations in 858 patients with unexplained familial/ early-onset CRC or polyposis. They didn't identify either mutation in any of their CRC cases. However, the *POLE* p.Leu424Val mutation was found in a polyposis family, in which case it had occurred as a *de novo* mutation in the proband. This accounted for 0.52% of the polyposis cases. The group also reported a novel variant, *POLD1* c.1421T>C (p.Leu474Pro) in a MMR-proficient family. This mutation occurs in the proofreading domain of a DNA polymerase and was predicted to be pathogenic (Valle *et al* 2014).

Valle's group sought to further characterise the phenotypic spectrum of patients carrying germline POLE/POLD1 mutations (Bellido et al 2016). They sequenced the entire exonuclease domains of POLE/POLD1 in 544 CRC cases from 529 families, including those from Valle's original paper (Valle et al 2014). Although no additional *POLE* mutations were identified, 4 of 6 novel/rare nonsynonymous *POLD1* variants detected were believed to be pathogenic: p.D316H, p.D316G, p.R409W and p.L474P. The group reviewed the phenotypic data from all 69 carriers of POLE/POLD1 mutations that had been reported to date. They observed that the associated phenotype was characterised by attenuated/ oligo- adenomatous polyposis, with >80% of POLE and >60% of POLD1 mutation carriers being diagnosed with >/= 2 adenomas, with an average of 19 lesions. CRC was diagnosed in 60-64% of carriers, and brain tumors in 5.8%. Gastroduodenal (mostly duodenal) adenomas were identified in 57.1% of carriers who underwent gastroduodenoscopies. For patients harbouring POLD1 mutations, the phenotypic spectrum was extended to include endometrial tumors (57.1% of carriers) and breast tumors (14.3% of carriers).

# 2.1.4 NTHL1-Associated Polyposis

A further gene involved in the pathogenesis of colorectal neoplasia is *NTHL1*. In 2015 Weren *et al* carried out whole exome sequencing on 51 patients with multiple colorectal adenomas +/- CRC, who had tested negative for *APC* and *MUTYH* mutations (Weren *et al* 2015). The group found that 7 individuals were homozygous for a *NTHL1* nonsense mutation, c.268C>T, which triggers nonsense-mediated decay (NMD). The patients harbouring the mutations all had multiple colorectal adenomas, ranging from 8-50, and 4 also had multiple CRCs. All 3 affected women developed complex endometrial hyperplasia or endometrial cancer.

NTHL1 is a base excision repair gene, and homozygous mutations cause an increase in C:G>T:A changes in genes such as APC, p53, KRAS and PI3K (Weren et al 2015).

# 2.1.5 MSH3-Associated Polyposis

The most recently identified polyposis syndrome is *MSH3*-Associated Polyposis (Adam *et al* 2016). Adam's group performed whole exome sequencing on germline DNA extracted from 102 unrelated individuals with unexplained adenomatous polyposis. They found two different individuals with different compound heterozygous mutations in the mismatch repair gene, *MSH3*. Both index persons had an affected sibling carrying the same mutations. The mutations were associated with tumors which displayed Elevated Microsatellite Alterations At Selected Tetranucleotide Repeats (EMAST), a type of microsatellite instability.

The phenotypic spectrum in *MSH3* mutation carriers was reported to include colorectal and duodenal adenomas, CRC, gastric cancer and an early onset astrocytoma (Adam *et al* 2016).

# 2.2 Hyperplastic Polyps (HPPs)

HPPs are a frequent finding, seen in between 1% and 73% of autopsies (Paspatis *et al* 2001; Williams *et al* 1982; reviewed in Correa *et al* 1977). In asymptomatic individuals undergoing colonoscopy, HPPs are observed in 21% - 34% of cases (Forsberg *et al* 2012; DiSario *et al* 1991). They are more common in males than females, and their prevalence increases with age (Williams *et al* 1982; Williams *et al* 1980; Correa *et al* 1977).

Until approximately 1990, hyperplastic (or 'metaplastic') polyps were regarded as a homogeneous group of tumors with no malignant potential (Rosty *et al* 2013a). Since that time, it has been increasingly recognised that hyperplastic

lesions are not a single entity – they differ in their morphology and their clinical significance, in particular their risk for progressing to carcinoma. In 2010, the World Health Organisation published a classification system which subdivides hyperplastic lesions into 3 groups based upon their microscopic appearance: Hyperplastic Polyps (HPPs), Sessile Serrated Adenomas/Polyps with or without cytological dysplasia (SSA) and Traditional Serrated Adenomas (TSA) (reviewed in Rosty *et al* 2013a; reviewed in Leggett and Whitehall 2010).

It is now known that hyperplastic lesions may be the precursors to CRC developing along the serrated pathway of carcinogenesis, which accounts for approximately 10% of CRCs (Yamane *et al* 2014). In contrast to the CRC which follow the traditional 'adenoma carcinoma' pathway, tumors arising from the serrated pathway tend not to display CIN, but instead exhibit MAPK pathway activation, through *BRAF* mutations, and they commonly develop CIMP (Yamane *et al* 2014; Rosty *et al* 2013a; Leggett and Whitehall 2010).

# 2.2.2 Serrated Polyposis Syndrome

Although most HPPs are sporadic lesions, there is a condition in which patients develop multiple and/or large lesions. One of the first descriptions was in 1980 by Williams *et al* (Williams *et al* 1980). They observed 7 patients, with a mean age of 37.4 years, who each had at least 50 lesions throughout their large bowel. At that time, the authors concluded that 'it is impossible to deduce whether or not 'metaplastic polyposis' is a distinct entity. There is no good evidence that it is familial in this small series, but the appearance of numerous metaplastic polyps of an unusually large size and configuration, predominantly in young males, might suggest a specific 'disease''.

As increasing evidence came to light that there seemed to be a syndrome in which patients developed numerous hyperplastic lesions throughout their large

bowel, it was named 'hyperplastic polyposis syndrome' (HPS). In 2000, a definition of HPS was proposed by Jass and Burt in the World Health Organisation classification of tumors (Jass and Burt 2000). This definition was modified in 2010, and the disease was officially renamed Serrated Polyposis Syndrome (SPS). It appears in the 2010 World Health Organisation classification of tumors of the digestive system (Snover DC *et al* 2010). In order to meet the diagnostic criteria for SPS, patients must fulfil at least one of the following criteria:

- At least 5 serrated (hyperplastic) polyps proximal to the sigmoid colon, 2 of which are >10mm diameter
- 2. Any number of serrated polyps proximal to the sigmoid colon in an individual who has a first degree relative with serrated polyposis
- 3. More than 20 serrated polyps of any size distributed throughout the colon

(reviewed in Rosty et al 2013a; reviewed in Guarinos et al 2012; reviewed in Leggett and Whitehall 2010; Snover DC et al 2010)

It was thought that SPS affected 1 in 3000 asymptomatic individuals between the ages of 55 and 64 years (reviewed in Rosty *et al* 2013b). However, most studies report a broad age distribution of the disease (17 to 85 years) with a mean age of diagnosis of 47.7-56 years, so it is possible that the prevalence of SPS in the general asymptomatic population is higher than 1/3000 (Rosty *et al* 2013b). Recent data suggest that the prevalence may be as high as 1/151 patients who have a colonoscopy following a positive faecal occult blood test (reviewed in Rosty *et al* 2013a).

SPS shows no sex predilection, and the mean age of diagnosis is 55 years (Guarinos *et al* 2012; Kalady *et al* 2011). As well as hyperplastic lesions, up to 85% of patients also have conventional adenomas present in the bowel (Rosty *et al* 

2013a; Rosty *et al* 2012). Patients with SPS have an increased risk of developing CRC, which generally occurs between 50 and 60 years of age (reviewed in Guarinos *et al* 2012). Malignancy is associated with a larger number of polyps, the presence of dysplasia (reviewed in Guarinos *et al* 2012; Yeoman *et al* 2007) and the presence of conventional adenomas in addition to HPPs (Rosty *et al* 2013b). The incidence of CRC in SPS patients varies from 14% to 58% (reviewed in Rosty *et al* 2013b; Yeoman *et al* 2007; Hyman *et al* 2004; Lage *et al* 2004) and the incidence is greater in females than in males, with a ratio of 2.4:1 (Rosty *et al* 213b). When carcinoma develops in an SPS patient, it is likely to have a proximal location: 64% of CRC are identified proximal to the descending colon (Rosty *et al* 2013b). Interestingly, a large proportion of CRCs seen in patients with SPS do not develop through the 'serrated pathway of carcinogenesis' driven by *BRAF* mutation (Rosty *et al* 2013b). The tumors show various molecular changes, including those more likely to be associated with the traditional adenoma-carcinoma pathway, for example β-catenin activation and/or overexpression of p53 (Rosty *et al* 2013b).

SPS is thought to be a genetic disease, but the mode of inheritance is unclear (reviewed in Guarinos *et al* 2012). There are papers which report germline mutations in the Wnt inhibitor *RNF43*, an E3 ubiquitin ligase, in individuals and families with features of SPS (Yan *et al* 2017; Taupin *et al* 2015; Gala *et al* 2014). However, Buchanan *et al* note that mutations in *RNF43* may account for only a small proportion of SPS, and that additional genetic risk factors are yet to be identified (Buchanan *et al* 2017).

### 2.3 Hamartomatous Polyps

Hamartomas are overgrowths of the tissue which is native to the site of the lesion. Polyposis syndromes which are characterised by hamartomas include Peutz-

Jegher's Syndrome (PJS), Juvenile Polyposis Syndrome (JPS) and Cowden's Disease.

# 2.3.1 Peutz- Jegher's Syndrome (PJS)

In 1921, a Dutch physician, Dr. Peutz, first described the combination of gastrointestinal polyps and mucocutaneous pigmentation (Peutz 1921). In 1949, Dr. Jeghers published an article describing 10 patients who had a combination of pigmentation of the oral mucosa/lips/digits, and intestinal polyps (Jeghers *et al* 1949). The observations made by Peutz and Jeghers led to the definition of an AD syndrome characterised by gastrointestinal polyposis and mucocutaneous pigmentation, now known as Peutz-Jeghers Syndrome (PJS) (Westerman *et al* 1999).

PJS is inherited in an AD manner and has variable penetrance. It is a rare condition, with a prevalence of approximately 1 in 200 000 (reviewed in Omundsen and Lam 2012). The disease is characterised by hamartomatous polyps throughout the gastrointestinal tract and mucocutaneous pigmentation. Patients present at a median age of 11 years, and this is often as a result of a complication of their GI polyps, for example intussusception, small bowel obstruction, rectal bleeding or volvulus (reviewed in Omundsen and Lam 2012).

Approximately 50% of cases of PJS are caused by germline mutations in the nuclear serine threonine kinase gene *LKB1/STK11* (Jenne *et al* 1998; reviewed in Omundsen and Lam 2012). This gene regulates cell polarisation, growth and metabolism. Most mutations are small insertions or deletions, resulting in a truncated protein with no kinase activity (reviewed in Omundsen and Lam 2012).

Patients with PJS are at increased risk of developing cancer, both at gastrointestinal and extra-intestinal sites. The most common tumors are CRCs, but there is also an increased risk of other gastrointestinal (GI) carcinomas

(oesophageal, gastric, small bowel and pancreas), breast cancer, ovarian cancer, cervical cancer and sex cord tumors (Hizawa *et al* 1993; reviewed in Omundsen and Lam 2012).

### 2.3.2 Familial Juvenile Polyposis Syndrome

In 1914, Hertz described four family members who had rectal polyps in childhood, the youngest being only 8-years-old (Hertz 1914). That report is regarded as the first instance of juvenile polyposis in the medical literature (Calva and Howe 2009).

Juvenile polyps are common hamartomatous lesions which occur in the large bowel. They are usually solitary and sporadic. If multiple juvenile polyps are present, the patient may have Juvenile Polyposis Syndrome (JPS). JPS is an AD disease with variable penetrance and which has an incidence of 1 per 100 000 births (reviewed in Omundsen and Lam 2012). Patients can present in infancy with GI bleeding, intussusception, rectal prolapse or a protein losing enteropathy. Around 15% will have an associated congenital birth defect, such as gut malrotation, cardiac and cranial abnormalities, cleft palate, polydactyly or genitourinary defects. If presentation is as an adult, the patient is likely to suffer from GI bleeding (reviewed in Omunsden and Lam 2012).

For a diagnosis of JPS, patients must fulfil one of the following criteria:

- 1. More than 5 juvenile polyps of the colon or rectum
- 2. Juvenile polyps in other parts of the GI tract
- 3. Any number of juvenile polyps and a positive family history

(reviewed in Omundsen and Lam 2012)

Germline mutations in *SMAD4* and *BMPR1A* are seen in JPS, and it is suggested that *ENG* mutations may also have a role (Sweet *et al* 2005), although this is not certain (Howe *et al* 2007). All of these genes are involved in transforming growth factor β (TGFβ) signalling. The TGFβ family of cytokines are growth inhibitors, and loss of sensitivity to these factors promotes tumorigenesis (reviewed in Fleming *et al* 2013). As such, patients with JPS are at increased risk of developing CRC (Rozen and Baratz 1982; Järvinen and Franssila 1984; Giardiello *et al* 1991). In additional to colorectal malignancies, patients are also at risk of developing gastric and duodenal cancer (reviewed in Omundsen and Lam 2012).

### 2.3.3 Cowden's Syndrome

In 1963 Lloyd and Dennis reported a 20-year old female with multiple pathologies, including multiple thyroid adenomas, extensive fibrocystic change of both breasts and 'space occupying lesions in the liver and bone' (Lloyd and Dennis, 1963). At that time, it was noted that 'whether this case represents a new familial disease....has not been established' (Lloyd and Dennis, 1963), although they named the syndrome 'Cowden's Disease'. It is now established that Cowden's Syndrome is an AD disease, affecting approximately 1 in 200 000 births. It is commonly diagnosed in the second decade of life, but age of onset may vary from 4 to 75 years (reviewed in Lam-Himlin *et al* 2014). Patients develop multiple hamartomas in multiple organ systems. Lesions can be found in the skin, GI tract, breast, thyroid gland and central nervous system (reviewed in Omunsden and Lam 2012; Hanssen and Fryns 1995).

80% of patients have a germline mutation in the *PTEN* gene (reviewed in Omunsden and Lam 2012). *PTEN* is a tumor suppressor: its product is a phosphatase which negatively regulates the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-AKT (PI3K) and mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) signalling pathways, which are

involved in cell growth and proliferation, cell cycle progression and apoptosis (reviewed in Lam-Himlin *et al* 2014). *PTEN* mutations are involved in the pathogenesis of several carcinomas, including breast, endometrial, thyroid, large bowel and kidney (reviewed in Lam-Himlin *et al* 2014). As such, patients with Cowden's Syndrome are at increased risk of these malignancies (Hanssen and Fryns 1995).

# 2.4 Hereditary Mixed Polyposis Syndrome (HMPS)

Hereditary Mixed Polyposis Syndrome (HMPS) is a relatively recently defined entity. In 1971, Kaschula described an 11-year-old girl who had profuse diarrhoea mixed with blood and mucus. She was found to have polyps throughout her large bowel, and the polyps had both adenomatous and juvenile morphologies (Kaschula 1971). Over a decade later, in 1987, the term 'mixed familial polyposis syndromes' was used as the title of a report by Sarles *et al* (Sarles *et al* 1987). This article described 3 patients, including a father and son, who all had multiple polyps of different histopathological types.

In HMPS, patients develop multiple polyps with mixed morphologies. This is an AD disease, and patients may have adenomas, hyperplastic polyps and hamartomatous polyps. There is a high risk of developing CRC (Jaeger *et al* 2012). The disease is caused by a duplication spanning part of the *SCG5* gene and a region upstream of the *GREM1* locus. This duplication causes increased expression of *GREM1*, which acts as a bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) antagonist. The subsequent reduction in BMP signalling is thought to play a role in tumorigenesis (Jaeger *et al* 2012).

# 3. Clinical Management of Patients with Colorectal Polyposis

It has been common clinical practice for patients with >10 colorectal adenomas to be referred to a regional genetics centre for genetic counselling and for consideration of diagnostic analysis of the *APC* and/or *MUTYH* genes. The diagnostic testing carried out will depend upon the individual's phenotype and their family history.

Up to 90% of patients with a phenotype of typical FAP have a pathogenic *APC* germline mutation identified through sequencing of coding exons and deletion/duplication analysis via multiplex ligation-dependent probe amplification (MLPA) (Spier *et al* 2012). Of those with a phenotype of AFAP, *APC* or biallelic *MUTYH* germline mutations are detected in only 20-50% of cases (Spier *et al* 2012).

# 4. 'Unexplained' Colorectal Polyposis

Since 1991, when *APC* was recognised as the causative gene of FAP (Groden *et al* 1991; Joslyn *et al* 1991; Kinzler *et al* 1991; Nishisho *et al* 1991), several screening and diagnostic strategies have been developed to identify pathogenic *APC* mutations (Scott *et al* 2001) in patients with multiple colorectal adenomas. These have included denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis analysis (DGGE) (Scott *et al* 2001; Olschwang *et al* 1993), ribonuclease protection analysis (Miyoshi *et al* 1992), single strand conformation polymorphism analysis (SSCP) (Cottrell *et al* 1992; Groden *et al* 1993), heteroduplex analysis (HA) (Cottrell *et al* 1992) and the protein truncation test (PTT)/ in vitro synthesised protein assay (IVSP) (Powell *et al* 1993). The characterisation of a genetic mutation identified through screening requires DNA sequencing. Sanger sequencing has been the gold standard of sequencing for several decades, and until very recently was the main approach used for the molecular diagnosis of colorectal polyposis. In the last few

years, next-generation sequencing (NGS) technologies have progressively replaced Sanger sequencing.

Genetic diagnostic protocols used in patients with polyposis typically include sequencing of *APC* and/or *MUTYH* and dosage analysis of the genes using a technique such as MLPA. These approaches could miss pathogenic variants located in promoter regions, deep within introns (Spier *et al* 2012) or in untranslated regions (UTRs), which may have effects on gene expression mediated through effects on transcription, mRNA splicing or mRNA stability. Similarly, diagnostic protocols may miss low frequency variants in patients with somatic mosaicism. Most Many diagnostic protocols would also not identify epigenetic phenomenon such as promoter methylation, they would not detect mutations in genes which are established but rare causes of polyposis (e.g. *POLE/POLD1*) and they would also not identify novel polyposis genes.

# 4.1 Promoter Variants and Allelic Imbalance (AI)

The *APC* gene has two promoter regions, 1A and 1B (reviewed in Rohlin *et al* 2011). The major transcript is initiated by the major promoter, 1A (reviewed in Charames *et al* 2008). It is possible that genetic variants occurring in these promoters could lead to reduced gene expression, therefore predisposing to tumor formation. Such variants might not be identified through standard genetic diagnostics as the promoter is not typically included in diagnostic sequencing protocols.

There are several reports of *APC* promoter mutations in the literature.

However, these typically describe deletions, which would be detected through diagnostic MLPA (Yamaguchi *et al* 2016; Pavicic *et al* 2014; Rohlin *et al* 2011; Charames *et al* 2008). There is a paucity of literature describing *APC* promoter point mutations or methylation as a cause of colorectal polyposis.

Allelic imbalance (AI) refers to a situation in which the two alleles of a given gene are expressed at different levels in a given cell (Wagner *et al* 2010). It can occur due to epigenetic inactivation of one of the alleles, or because of genetic variation in regulatory regions (Wagner *et al* 2010). AI can involve complete inactivation of one allele, for example in parent-of-origin imprinting, when a specific allele at a given locus is silenced through epigenetic mechanisms depending on whether it was inherited from the mother or father (Wagner *et al* 2010). Allele expression can also be partially reduced, which can occur when different alleles have differing affinities for transcription factors (Wagner *et al* 2010), or through *cis*- acting genetic variants, for example in promoters (Wagner *et al* 2010).

As well as being important in normal phenotypic variation, Al can also contribute to tumorigenesis. There is some evidence that BRCA1 and BRCA2 AI plays a role in the pathogenesis of ovarian and breast cancer (Chen et al 2008; Shen et al 2011). Whilst only a small number of studies have considered APC AI in the context of colorectal neoplasia, those which have been performed have found it may make an important contribution. As early as 1993, Powell et al (Powell et al 1993) used an allele-specific expression assay to show that 3/11 APC NMI patients with clinical FAP had significantly reduced expression of one APC allele. In 1999 Laken et al (Laken et al 1999) used monoallelic mutation analysis (MAMA) to reveal that 7/9 APC NMI patients had reduced/no expression from one of their APC alleles. More recently Yan et al (2002) identified a patient with colorectal tumors who was known to have reduced levels of the APC protein. The group quantified the relative levels of mRNA transcripts from each APC allele using Digital-SNP. They found that gDNA yielded the expected 50% allelic ratio, but that cDNA from lymphoblastoid cells showed a skewed distribution, with a ratio of approximately 66% (Yan et al 2002). Linkage analysis showed that the allele whose mRNA was expressed in lower amounts was the one linked to disease (Yan et al 2002). Further work confirmed that the skewed allelic ratio was also present in 4 affected family

members, but that the ratio was normal in 24 unrelated unaffected individuals. The group continued to investigate expression levels of APC: in four patients with clinical FAP who had no abnormalities with the in vitro synthesised protein assay (IVSP) or allele sequencing, one was found to have an abnormal 71% allelic ratio in cDNA. When tumors from the patients with AI were studied, 30/38 had LOH of APC, and in 29 of these cases, it was the normal allele which had been lost. Yan et al concluded that an allele which causes a decrease in transcript levels can result in a predisposition to severe disease, but that there needs to be a second hit to the normal allele for a disease to manifest (Yan et al 2002). Interestingly the cause of the decreased expression was not determined: the sequences of the coding regions, promoter and 3'UTR were normal, so the group assumed that the pathogenic variant must lie within an intron or upstream of the gene (Yan et al 2002). These early findings regarding APC AI have been supported by Castellsagué et al (2010). Of 23 APC/MUTYH NMI polyposis families who were heterozygous for rs2229992, 2 were shown to harbour APC AI. The AI in one family was suggested to result from promoter variants (Castellsagué et al 2010).

### 4.2 Intronic Variants

Intronic mutations may affect RNA splicing and introns are not screened as part of most routine genetic diagnostic protocols. In 2000 Su *et al* sought to identify novel intragenic rearrangements of *APC* in patients with a clinical phenotype of FAP or AFAP. They found four germline *APC* mutations, one of which was a deletion 27-1627bp downstream of exon 14, which was replaced with a novel sequence of about 180bp. The deletion was completely within intron 14, but it affected the splicing of exon 14 (Su *et al* 2000). In 2010 Tuohy *et al* used Southern Blot analysis of the *APC* gene to identify a 1.4kb deletion within intron 14 in a family with AFAP. Subsequent PCR amplification from exon 13 to exon 15 of cDNA showed that the

intronic deletion resulted in abnormal splicing, and that exon 14 was deleted. This caused a frameshift and protein truncation at codon 673 of the normal reading frame resulting in a truncated product that lacked all of the  $\beta$ -catenin, microtubule and EB-1 binding domains (Tuohy *et al* 2010).

In 2012 transcript analysis in a sample of 125 mutation negative patients with colorectal adenomatous polyposis found that 8% had a reproducible aberrant transcript pattern, suggesting an intronic mutation at a genomic level (Spier *et al* 2012). 80% of these were found to have transcript insertions between two exons originating from exonised sequences deep within the corresponding intron (Spier *et al* 2012). All pseudoexons were predicted to result in out-of-frame transcripts with premature stop codons (Spier *et al* 2012). In those patients who had insertions, the underlying genomic mutations were identified: they comprised 3 different heterozygous point mutations (c.532-941G>A, c.1408+731C>T, c.1408+735A>T) which activated cryptic splice sites. A pre-existing complementary cryptic splice site was predicted at the other end of the insertion (Spier *et al* 2012).

# 4.3 Untranslated Region (UTR) Variants

A pre-RNA molecule undergoes several steps of processing before it becomes a functional mRNA molecule (Mignone *et al* 2002). Mature mRNA consists of a 5' untranslated region (5'UTR), a coding region, and a 3' UTR (Mignone *et al* 2002). UTRs, particularly 3'UTRs, have multiple roles in the post-transcriptional regulation of gene expression, including effects on mRNA transport out of the nucleus, translation efficiency, subcellular localisation and mRNA stability (reviewed in Mignone *et al* 2002). In addition to normal physiological intracellular effects, there is increasing evidence that UTR variants can be involved in disease, for example an expanded number of trinucleotide repeats in the 3'UTR of the *DMPK* gene is thought to play a role in the pathogenesis of in myotonic dystrophy (Conne *et al* 

2000), and a somatic 5'UTR variant has been reported to reduce translation efficiency of *BRCA1* in a highly aggressive sporadic breast cancer (Signori *et al* 2001).

In the context of colorectal neoplasia, Wilding *et al* have shown that in microsatellite unstable cancer, deregulation of mRNA stability due to mutations in regulatory 3'UTR sequences can lead to a marked difference in gene expression profiles when compared to microsatellite stable tumors (Wilding *et al* 2010).

### 4.4 Mosaicism

A mosaic is an individual who has at least two genetically different cell lines despite developing from a single zygote. Mosaic mutations may be missed with standard mutation diagnostic techniques, for example if they occur at a low frequency within the individual or if they do not occur in the part of the body which is being analysed.

It is reported that somatic mosaicism can occur in 10-20% of sporadic cases of FAP (reviewed in Rohlin *et al* 2009; Hes *et al* 2008; Aretz *et al* 2007). The timing at which an *APC* mutation occurs will have an important bearing on the patient's phenotype: if it arises in a single colonic epithelial stem cell, the only consequence will be adenomatous polyps in the segment of the colon that becomes populated with descendants of the stem cell (Tuohy and Burt 2008). At the other extreme, if the mutation occurs early in embryogenesis, it may be found in all three germ cell layers. This would result in multiple clinical manifestations seen throughout multiple organ systems, potentially including mutations in reproductive cells, which could then be passed on to future generations (Tuohy and Burt 2008).

Depending on the frequency of the mutation, it is likely that a significant proportion will be missed using current diagnostic sequencing protocols and DNA extracted from whole blood. Rohlin *et al* (2009) carried out a study to evaluate the

different mutation screening/diagnostic techniques in terms of their sensitivity in detecting mosaicism. They looked at Sanger sequencing, single-strand conformation polymorphism (SSCP)/heteroduplex analysis (HA), the protein truncation test (PTT), denaturing high performance liquid chromatography (DHPLC) and massively parallel sequencing. A total of 9 mutations were addressed – 8 in APC and 1 in NF2. The group constructed 7 artificial mosaics in APC through serial dilutions of DNA, with a non-mosaic heterozygous mutation being defined as 100%. The two remaining samples were from naturally occurring mosaics. All of the dilutions of all of the mutations were analysed with SSCP, DHPLC and Sanger sequencing. Three were included in the PTT assay (these were mutations in exon 18, which is readily screened by PTT). Only four artificial mosaics, at various concentrations, and both natural mosaics underwent massively parallel sequencing, due to cost limitations. The group found that SSCP and DHPLC were able to detect mutant alleles at frequencies between 5% and 25%, whereas Sanger sequencing required frequencies between 15% and 50% for detection. The mutations included in the PTT assay were detected at frequencies between 10 and 100%. The Genome Sequencer FLX was used for massively parallel sequencing, and this achieved coverage between 648 and 8313 reads. Mutations frequencies as low as 1% could be detected, but this required a high coverage (Rohlin et al 2009).

The results from this study showed that Sanger sequencing, which has been commonly used in a diagnostic setting, was the least sensitive method at detecting mosaics. Dependent upon the type of mutation being analysed, this technique may require mutation frequencies as high as 50% in order for them to be detected (Rohlin *et al* 2009).

Genetic testing in the diagnostic setting is usually carried out on DNA extracted from whole blood. For some patients, a mosaic mutation may only be present in colonic tissue so will not be detectable through testing blood-derived DNA (Jansen *et al* 2017).

### 4.5 The Involvement of Additional Genes

Standard diagnostic protocols carried out in the context of adenomatous colorectal polyposis typically examine the *APC* and *MUTYH* genes, although an increasing number of laboratories are screening DNA for the recurrent mutations in *POLE* and *POLD1*. It is only in recent years that the pathogenic effects of mutant *POLE*, *POLD1*, *NTHL1* and *MSH3* have been discovered. It is therefore feasible that there may be further genes involved in the development of heritable colorectal polyposis, which are yet to be identified.

Furthermore, mutations in genes such as *APC*, *MUTYH*, *POLE*, *POLD1*, *NTHL1* and *MSH3* are all highly penetrant. It may be the case that some patients with unexplained colorectal polyposis have a phenotype which results from the complex interplay of several low/moderate penetrance genetic variants.

### 5. Summary

Colorectal carcinoma (CRC) is the third most common cancer in men and the second most common cancer in women (Ferlay *et al* 2013). Most CRCs occur sporadically, but in approximately a third of patients, hereditary factors are important (reviewed in Mishra and Hall 2012; Burt 2007). Some patients with an inherited predisposition to CRC will be diagnosed with a 'genetic polyposis syndrome' such as FAP, MAP, PPAP, *NTHL1*-Associated Polyposis, *MSH3*-Associated Polyposis or a hamartomatous polyposis syndrome. It is important to identify these patients, and to define the mutations causing their polyposis, so that the individuals and their relatives can be managed appropriately.

## **Acknowledgements**

The authors would like to thank Professor Geraint Williams for his help in identifying suitable microscopic images of colorectal polyps, and The Pathological Society of Great Britain and Ireland for the support they have given to Dr. Short's work.

## References

Adam, R., Spier, I., Zhao, B., Kloth, M., Marquez, J., Hinrichsen, I., et al. (2016). Exome Sequencing Identifies Biallelic MSH3 Germline Mutations as a Recessive Subtype of Colorectal Adenomatous Polyposis. *Am J Hum Genet*, *99*(2), 337-351.

Al-Tassan, N., Chmiel, N. H., Maynard, J., Fleming, N., Livingston, A. L., Williams, G. T., et al. (2002). Inherited variants of MYH associated with somatic G:C-->T:A mutations in colorectal tumors. *Nat Genet*, *30*(2), 227-232.

Albuquerque, C., Breukel, C., van der Luijt, R., Fidalgo, P., Lage, P., Slors, F. J., et al. (2002). The 'just-right' signaling model: APC somatic mutations are selected based on a specific level of activation of the beta-catenin signaling cascade. *Hum Mol Genet*, *11*(13), 1549-1560.

Aretz, S., Tricarico, R., Papi, L., Spier, I., Pin, E., Horpaopan, S., et al. (2014). MUTYH-associated polyposis (MAP): evidence for the origin of the common European mutations p.Tyr179Cys and p.Gly396Asp by founder events. *Eur J Hum Genet*, 22(7), 923-929.

Aretz, S., Stienen, D., Friedrichs, N., Stemmler, S., Uhlhaas, S., Rahner, N., et al. (2007). Somatic APC mosaicism: a frequent cause of familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP). *Hum Mutat*, *28*(10), 985-992.

Arminski, T. C., & Mclean, D. W. (1964). Incidence And Distribution Of Adenomatous Polyps Of The Colon And Rectum Based On 1,000 Autopsy Examinations. *Dis Colon Rectum*, 7, 249-261.

Baker, S. J., Fearon, E. R., Nigro, J. M., Hamilton, S. R., Preisinger, A. C., Jessup, J. M., et al. (1989a). Chromosome 17 deletions and p53 gene mutations in colorectal carcinomas. *Science*, *244*(4901), 217-221.

Bellido, F., Pineda, M., Aiza, G., Valdés-Mas, R., Navarro, M., Puente, D. A., et al. (2016a). POLE and POLD1 mutations in 529 kindred with familial colorectal cancer and/or polyposis: review of reported cases and recommendations for genetic testing and surveillance. *Genet Med*, *18*(4), 325-332.

Bodmer, W (1999). Familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP) and its gene, APC. *Cytogenet Cell Genet 86*, 99–104.

Bollag, G., Tsai, J., Zhang, J., Zhang, C., Ibrahim, P., Nolop, K., et al. (2012). Vemurafenib: the first drug approved for BRAF-mutant cancer. *Nat Rev Drug Discov*, *11*(11), 873-886.

Boparai, K. S., Dekker, E., Van Eeden, S., Polak, M. M., Bartelsman, J. F., Mathus-Vliegen, E. M., et al. (2008). Hyperplastic polyps and sessile serrated adenomas as a phenotypic expression of MYH-associated polyposis. *Gastroenterology*, *135*(6), 2014-2018.

Bos, J. L., Fearon, E. R., Hamilton, S. R., Verlaan-de Vries, M., van Boom, J. H.,

van der Eb, A. J., et al. (1987). Prevalence of ras gene mutations in human colorectal cancers. *Nature*, *327*(6120), 293-297.

Brink, M., de Goeij, A. F., Weijenberg, M. P., Roemen, G. M., Lentjes, M. H., Pachen, M. M., et al. (2003). K-ras oncogene mutations in sporadic colorectal cancer in The Netherlands Cohort Study. *Carcinogenesis*, *24*(4), 703-710.

Buchanan, D. D., Clendenning, M., Zhuoer, L., Stewart, J. R., Joseland, S., Woodall, S., et al. (2017). Lack of evidence for germline RNF43 mutations in patients with serrated polyposis syndrome from a large multinational study. *Gut*, *66*(6), 1170-1172.

Bülow, S., Berk, T., & Neale, K. (2006). The history of familial adenomatous polyposis. *Fam Cancer*, *5*(3), 213-220.

Burt, R. (2007). Inheritance of Colorectal Cancer. *Drug Discov Today Dis Mech,* 4(4), 293-300.

Calva, D. and Howe, J. (2009) Juvenile Polyposis. In: *Cancer Syndromes*. Ed Riegert-Johnson, DL *et al* Pub Bethesda (MD): National Center for Biotechnology Information (US).

Castellsagué, E., González, S., Guinó, E., Stevens, K. N., Borràs, E., Raymond, V. M., et al. (2010). Allele-specific expression of APC in adenomatous polyposis families. *Gastroenterology*, *139*(2), 439-447, 447.e431.

Chapman, I. (1963). Adenomatous polypi of large intestine: incidence and distribution. *Ann Surg, 157*, 223-226.

Charames, G. S., Ramyar, L., Mitri, A., Berk, T., Cheng, H., Jung, J., et al. (2008). A large novel deletion in the APC promoter region causes gene silencing and leads to classical familial adenomatous polyposis in a Manitoba Mennonite kindred. *Hum Genet*, 124(5), 535-541.

Cheadle, J. P., & Sampson, J. R. (2007). MUTYH-associated polyposis--from defect in base excision repair to clinical genetic testing. *DNA Repair (Amst)*, *6*(3), 274-279.

Chen, X., Weaver, J., Bove, B. A., Vanderveer, L. A., Weil, S. C., Miron, A., et al. (2008). Allelic imbalance in BRCA1 and BRCA2 gene expression is associated with an increased breast cancer risk. *Hum Mol Genet*, *17*(9), 1336-1348.

Chung, S. J., Kim, Y. S., Yang, S. Y., Song, J. H., Park, M. J., Kim, J. S., et al. (2010). Prevalence and risk of colorectal adenoma in asymptomatic Koreans aged 40-49 years undergoing screening colonoscopy. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol*, *25*(3), 519-525.

Conne, B., Stutz, A., & Vassalli, J. D. (2000). The 3' untranslated region of messenger RNA: A molecular 'hotspot' for pathology? *Nat Med, 6*(6), 637-641.

Correa, P., Strong, J. P., Reif, A., & Johnson, W. D. (1977). The epidemiology of colorectal polyps: prevalence in New Orleans and international comparisons. *Cancer*, *39*(5), 2258-2264.

Cottrell, S., Bicknell, D., Kaklamanis, L., & Bodmer, W. F. (1992). Molecular analysis of APC mutations in familial adenomatous polyposis and sporadic colon carcinomas. *Lancet*, *340*(8820), 626-630.

Croitoru, M. E., Cleary, S. P., Berk, T., Di Nicola, N., Kopolovic, I., Bapat, B., et al. (2007). Germline MYH mutations in a clinic-based series of Canadian multiple colorectal adenoma patients. *J Surg Oncol*, *95*(6), 499-506.

DiSario, J. A., Foutch, P. G., Mai, H. D., Pardy, K., & Manne, R. K. (1991).

Prevalence and malignant potential of colorectal polyps in asymptomatic, averagerisk men. *Am J Gastroenterol*, *86*(8), 941-945.

Dolwani, S., Williams, G. T., West, K. P., Newman, J., Stock, D., Griffiths, A. P., et al. (2007). Analysis of inherited MYH/(MutYH) mutations in British Asian patients with colorectal cancer. *Gut*, *56*(4), 593.

Enholm, S., Hienonen, T., Suomalainen, A., Lipton, L., Tomlinson, I., Kärjä, V., et al. (2003). Proportion and phenotype of MYH-associated colorectal neoplasia in a population-based series of Finnish colorectal cancer patients. *Am J Pathol, 163*(3), 827-832.

Farrington, S. M., Tenesa, A., Barnetson, R., Wiltshire, A., Prendergast, J., Porteous, M., et al. (2005). Germline susceptibility to colorectal cancer due to base-excision repair gene defects. *Am J Hum Genet*, 77(1), 112-119.

Fearnhead, N. S., Britton, M. P., & Bodmer, W. F. (2001). The ABC of APC. *Hum Mol Genet*, *10*(7), 721-733.

Fearnhead, N. S., Wilding, J. L., & Bodmer, W. F. (2002). Genetics of colorectal cancer: hereditary aspects and overview of colorectal tumorigenesis. *Br Med Bull,* 64, 27-43.

Fearon, E. R., & Vogelstein, B. (1990a). A genetic model for colorectal

tumorigenesis. *Cell*, *61*(5), 759-767.

Ferlay, J., Soerjomataram, I., Dikshit, R., Eser, S., Mathers, C., Rebelo, M., et al. (2015). Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: sources, methods and major patterns in GLOBOCAN 2012. *Int J Cancer*, *136*(5), E359-386.

Fleming, N. I., Jorissen, R. N., Mouradov, D., Christie, M., Sakthianandeswaren, A., Palmieri, M., et al. (2013). SMAD2, SMAD3 and SMAD4 mutations in colorectal cancer. *Cancer Res*, *73*(2), 725-735.

Fodde, R. (2002). The APC gene in colorectal cancer. *Eur J Cancer, 38*(7), 867-871.

Forrester, K., Almoguera, C., Han, K., Grizzle, W. E., & Perucho, M. (1987).

Detection of high incidence of K-ras oncogenes during human colon tumorigenesis.

Nature, 327(6120), 298-303.

Forsberg, A. M., Kjellström, L., Agréus, L., Nixon Andreasson, A., Nyhlin, H., Talley, N. J., et al. (2012). Prevalence of colonic neoplasia and advanced lesions in the normal population: a prospective population-based colonoscopy study. *Scand J Gastroenterol*, *47*(2), 184-190.

Gala, M. K., Mizukami, Y., Le, L. P., Moriichi, K., Austin, T., Yamamoto, M., et al. (2014a). Germline mutations in oncogene-induced senescence pathways are associated with multiple sessile serrated adenomas. *Gastroenterology*, *146*(2), 520-529.

Giacosa, A., Frascio, F., & Munizzi, F. (2004). Epidemiology of colorectal polyps.

Tech Coloproctol, 8 Suppl 2, s243-247.

Giardiello, F. M., Hamilton, S. R., Kern, S. E., Offerhaus, G. J., Green, P. A., Celano, P., et al. (1991). Colorectal neoplasia in juvenile polyposis or juvenile polyps. *Arch Dis Child*, *66*(8), 971-975.

Gismondi, V., Meta, M., Bonelli, L., Radice, P., Sala, P., Bertario, L., et al. (2004). Prevalence of the Y165C, G382D and 1395delGGA germline mutations of the MYH gene in Italian patients with adenomatous polyposis coli and colorectal adenomas. *Int J Cancer, 109*(5), 680-684.

Grady, W. M., & Carethers, J. M. (2008). Genomic and epigenetic instability in colorectal cancer pathogenesis. *Gastroenterology*, *135*(4), 1079-1099.

Groden, J., Gelbert, L., Thliveris, A., Nelson, L., Robertson, M., Joslyn, G., et al. (1993). Mutational analysis of patients with adenomatous polyposis: identical inactivating mutations in unrelated individuals. *Am J Hum Genet*, *52*(2), 263-272.

Groden, J., Thliveris, A., Samowitz, W., Carlson, M., Gelbert, L., Albertsen, H., et al. (1991). Identification and characterization of the familial adenomatous polyposis coli gene. *Cell*, *66*(3), 589-600.

Guarinos, C., Sánchez-Fortún, C., Rodríguez-Soler, M., Alenda, C., Payá, A., & Jover, R. (2012). Serrated polyposis syndrome: molecular, pathological and clinical aspects. *World J Gastroenterol*, *18*(20), 2452-2461.

Guinney, J., Dienstmann, R., Wang, X., de Reyniès, A., Schlicker, A., Soneson, C., et al. (2015). The consensus molecular subtypes of colorectal cancer. *Nat Med*,

21(11), 1350-1356.

Hahn, S. A., Schutte, M., Hoque, A. T., Moskaluk, C. A., da Costa, L. T., Rozenblum, E., et al. (1996). DPC4, a candidate tumor suppressor gene at human chromosome 18q21.1. *Science*, *271*(5247), 350-353.

Hanssen, A. M., & Fryns, J. P. (1995). Cowden syndrome. *J Med Genet, 32*(2), 117-119.

Hao, X., Tomlinson, I., Ilyas, M., Palazzo, J. P., & Talbot, I. C. (1997). Reciprocity between membranous and nuclear expression of beta-catenin in colorectal tumours. *Virchows Arch*, *431*(3), 167-172.

Harrison Cripps, W. (1882). Two cases of disseminated polypus of the rectum. *Transactions of the Pathological Society of London, 33*, 165-168.

Hertz, A. F. (1914). Four Cases of Rectal Polypus occurring in One Family. *Proc R Soc Med 7(Surg Sect)*, 255-256.

Hes, F. J., Nielsen, M., Bik, E. C., Konvalinka, D., Wijnen, J. T., Bakker, E., et al. (2008). Somatic APC mosaicism: an underestimated cause of polyposis coli. *Gut*, *57*(1), 71-76.

Hizawa, K., Iida, M., Matsumoto, T., Kohrogi, N., Kinoshita, H., Yao, T., et al. (1993). Cancer in Peutz-Jeghers syndrome. *Cancer*, *7*2(9), 2777-2781.

Howe, J. R., Haidle, J. L., Lal, G., Bair, J., Song, C., Pechman, B., et al. (2007). ENG mutations in MADH4/BMPR1A mutation negative patients with juvenile polyposis. *Clin Genet*, *71*(1), 91-92.

Hughes, L. A., Khalid-de Bakker, C. A., Smits, K. M., van den Brandt, P. A., Jonkers, D., Ahuja, N., et al. (2012). The CpG island methylator phenotype in colorectal cancer: progress and problems. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, *1825*(1), 77-85.

Hyman, N. H., Anderson, P., & Blasyk, H. (2004). Hyperplastic polyposis and the risk of colorectal cancer. *Dis Colon Rectum*, 47(12), 2101-2104.

lacopetta, B. (2003). TP53 mutation in colorectal cancer. *Hum Mutat, 21*(3), 271-276.

lino, H., Simms, L., Young, J., Arnold, J., Winship, I. M., Webb, S. I., et al. (2000). DNA microsatellite instability and mismatch repair protein loss in adenomas presenting in hereditary non-polyposis colorectal cancer. *Gut*, *47*(1), 37-42.

Isidro, G., Laranjeira, F., Pires, A., Leite, J., Regateiro, F., Castro e Sousa, F., et al. (2004). Germline MUTYH (MYH) mutations in Portuguese individuals with multiple colorectal adenomas. *Hum Mutat*, *24*(4), 353-354.

Jaeger, E., Leedham, S., Lewis, A., Segditsas, S., Becker, M., Cuadrado, P. R., et al. (2012). Hereditary mixed polyposis syndrome is caused by a 40-kb upstream duplication that leads to increased and ectopic expression of the BMP antagonist GREM1. *Nat Genet, 44*(6), 699-703.

Jansen, A. M., Crobach, S., Geurts-Giele, W. R., van den Akker, B. E., Garcia, M. V., Ruano, D., et al. (2017). Distinct Patterns of Somatic Mosaicism in the APC Gene in Neoplasms From Patients With Unexplained Adenomatous Polyposis. *Gastroenterology*, *152*(3), 546-549.e543.

Jass, J.R. and Burt, R. (2000). Hyperplastic Polyposis. *World Health Organisation Classification of Tumours, Pathology and Genetics of Tumours of the Digestive System.* Ed. Hamilton, SR. and Aaltonen, LA. Pub. IARC Press, Lyon.

Jeghers, H., Mckusick, V. A., & KATZ, K. H. (1949). Generalized intestinal polyposis and melanin spots of the oral mucosa, lips and digits; a syndrome of diagnostic significance. *N Engl J Med*, *241*(26), 1031-1036.

Jenne, D. E., Reimann, H., Nezu, J., Friedel, W., Loff, S., Jeschke, R., et al. (1998). Peutz-Jeghers syndrome is caused by mutations in a novel serine threonine kinase. *Nat Genet, 18*(1), 38-43.

Jones, S., Emmerson, P., Maynard, J., Best, J. M., Jordan, S., Williams, G. T., et al. (2002). Biallelic germline mutations in MYH predispose to multiple colorectal adenoma and somatic G:C-->T:A mutations. *Hum Mol Genet*, *11*(23), 2961-2967.

Joslyn, G., Carlson, M., Thliveris, A., Albertsen, H., Gelbert, L., Samowitz, W., et al. (1991). Identification of deletion mutations and three new genes at the familial polyposis locus. *Cell*, *66*(3), 601-613.

Järvinen, H., & Franssila, K. O. (1984). Familial juvenile polyposis coli; increased risk of colorectal cancer. *Gut*, *25*(7), 792-800.

Kadiyska, T., Todorov, T., Bichev, S., Vazharova, R., Nossikoff, A., Savov, A., et al. (2013). APC promoter 1B deletion in familial polyposis-implications for mutationnegative families. *Clin Genet*, *85*(5), 452-457.

Kairupan, C. F., Meldrum, C. J., Crooks, R., Milward, E. A., Spigelman, A. D., Burgess, B., et al. (2005). Mutation analysis of the MYH gene in an Australian series of colorectal polyposis patients with or without germline APC mutations. *Int J Cancer*, *116*(1), 73-77.

Kalady, M. F., Jarrar, A., Leach, B., LaGuardia, L., O'Malley, M., Eng, C., et al. (2011). Defining phenotypes and cancer risk in hyperplastic polyposis syndrome. *Dis Colon Rectum*, *54*(2), 164-170.

Kanter-Smoler, G., Björk, J., Fritzell, K., Engwall, Y., Hallberg, B., Karlsson, G., et al. (2006). Novel findings in Swedish patients with MYH-associated polyposis: mutation detection and clinical characterization. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol, 4*(4), 499-506.

Kaschula, R. O. (1971). Mixed juvenile, adenomatous and intermediate polyposis coli: report of a case. *Dis Colon Rectum*, *14*(5), 368-374.

Kinzler, K. W., Nilbert, M. C., Su, L. K., Vogelstein, B., Bryan, T. M., Levy, D. B., et al. (1991). Identification of FAP locus genes from chromosome 5q21. *Science*, 253(5020), 661-665.

Knudson, A. G. (1971). Mutation and cancer: statistical study of retinoblastoma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 68*(4), 820-823.

Küry, S., Buecher, B., Robiou-du-Pont, S., Scoul, C., Colman, H., Lelièvre, B., et al. (2007). The thorough screening of the MUTYH gene in a large French cohort of sporadic colorectal cancers. *Genet Test*, *11*(4), 373-379.

Lage, P., Cravo, M., Sousa, R., Chaves, P., Salazar, M., Fonseca, R., et al. (2004). Management of Portuguese patients with hyperplastic polyposis and screening of at-risk first-degree relatives: a contribution for future guidelines based on a clinical study. *Am J Gastroenterol*, *99*(9), 1779-1784.

Laken, S. J., Papadopoulos, N., Petersen, G. M., Gruber, S. B., Hamilton, S. R., Giardiello, F. M., et al. (1999). Analysis of masked mutations in familial adenomatous polyposis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *96*(5), 2322-2326.

Lam-Himlin, D., Arnold C.A., De Petris GF., (2014). Gastric polyps and polyposis syndromes. *Diag Histopath* 20(1), 1-11.

Leggett, B., & Whitehall, V. (2010). Role of the serrated pathway in colorectal cancer pathogenesis. *Gastroenterology*, *138*(6), 2088-2100.

Lin, O. S., Kozarek, R. A., Schembre, D. B., Ayub, K., Gluck, M., Drennan, F., et al. (2006). Screening colonoscopy in very elderly patients: prevalence of neoplasia and estimated impact on life expectancy. *JAMA*, *295*(20), 2357-2365.

Lipton, L., Halford, S. E., Johnson, V., Novelli, M. R., Jones, A., Cummings, C., et al. (2003). Carcinogenesis in MYH-associated polyposis follows a distinct genetic pathway. *Cancer Res*, *63*(22), 7595-7599.

Lloyd, K. M., & Dennis, M. (1963). Cowden's disease. A possible new symptom complex with multiple system involvement. *Ann Intern Med*, *58*, 136-142.

Lockhart-Mummery P. (1925). Cancer and Heredity. Lancet 205(5296), 427-429.

Logan, C. Y., & Nusse, R. (2004). The Wnt signaling pathway in development and disease. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol, 20*, 781-810.

Lubbe, S. J., Di Bernardo, M. C., Chandler, I. P., & Houlston, R. S. (2009). Clinical implications of the colorectal cancer risk associated with MUTYH mutation. *J Clin Oncol*, *27*(24), 3975-3980.

Lynch, H. T., Snyder, C. L., Shaw, T. G., Heinen, C. D., & Hitchins, M. P. (2015). Milestones of Lynch syndrome: 1895-2015. *Nat Rev Cancer*, *15*(3), 181-194.

Mazzei, F., Viel, A., & Bignami, M. (2013). Role of MUTYH in human cancer. *Mutat Res*, 743-744, 33-43.

Mignone, F., Gissi, C., Liuni, S., & Pesole, G. (2002). Untranslated regions of mRNAs. *Genome Biol, 3*(3), REVIEWS0004.

Mishra, N., & Hall, J. (2012). Identification of patients at risk for hereditary colorectal cancer. *Clin Colon Rectal Surg*, *25*(2), 67-82.

Miyaki, M., Iijima, T., Yamaguchi, T., Hishima, T., Tamura, K., Utsunomiya, J., et al. (2005). Germline mutations of the MYH gene in Japanese patients with multiple colorectal adenomas. *Mutat Res*, *578*(1-2), 430-433.

Miyaki, M., & Kuroki, T. (2003). Role of Smad4 (DPC4) inactivation in human cancer. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, *306*(4), 799-804.

Miyoshi, Y., Ando, H., Nagase, H., Nishisho, I., Horii, A., Miki, Y., et al. (1992). Germ-line mutations of the APC gene in 53 familial adenomatous polyposis patients. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *89*(10), 4452-4456.

Muto, T., Bussey, H. J., & Morson, B. C. (1975). The evolution of cancer of the colon and rectum. *Cancer*, *36*(6), 2251-2270.

Nielsen, M., Hes, F. J., Nagengast, F. M., Weiss, M. M., Mathus-Vliegen, E. M., Morreau, H., et al. (2007). Germline mutations in APC and MUTYH are responsible for the majority of families with attenuated familial adenomatous polyposis. *Clin Genet*, 71(5), 427-433.

Nishisho, I., Nakamura, Y., Miyoshi, Y., Miki, Y., Ando, H., Horii, A., et al. (1991). Mutations of chromosome 5q21 genes in FAP and colorectal cancer patients. *Science*, *253*(5020), 665-669.

Nohmi, T., Kim, S. R., & Yamada, M. (2005). Modulation of oxidative mutagenesis and carcinogenesis by polymorphic forms of human DNA repair enzymes. *Mutat Res*, *591*(1-2), 60-73.

O'Brien, M. J., Winawer, S. J., Zauber, A. G., Gottlieb, L. S., Sternberg, S. S., Diaz, B., et al. (1990). The National Polyp Study. Patient and polyp characteristics associated with high-grade dysplasia in colorectal adenomas. *Gastroenterology*, 98(2), 371-379.

Olschwang, S., Laurent-Puig, P., Groden, J., White, R., & Thomas, G. (1993).

Germ-line mutations in the first 14 exons of the adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) gene. *Am J Hum Genet*, *5*2(2), 273-279.

Omundsen, M., & Lam, F. F. (2012). The other colonic polyposis syndromes. *ANZ J Surg, 82*(10), 675-681.

Palles, C., Cazier, J. B., Howarth, K. M., Domingo, E., Jones, A. M., Broderick, P., et al. (2013). Germline mutations affecting the proofreading domains of POLE and POLD1 predispose to colorectal adenomas and carcinomas. *Nat Genet, 45*(2), 136-144.

Paspatis, G. A., Papanikolaou, N., Zois, E., & Michalodimitrakis, E. (2001).

Prevalence of polyps and diverticulosis of the large bowel in the Cretan population.

An autopsy study. *Int J Colorectal Dis*, *16*(4), 257-261.

Pavicic, W., Nieminen, T. T., Gylling, A., Pursiheimo, J. P., Laiho, A., Gyenesei, A., et al. (2014a). Promoter-specific alterations of APC are a rare cause for mutation-negative familial adenomatous polyposis. *Genes Chromosomes Cancer*, *53*(10), 857-864.

Pendergrass, C. J., Edelstein, D. L., Hylind, L. M., Phillips, B. T., Iacobuzio-Donahue, C., Romans, K., et al. (2008). Occurrence of colorectal adenomas in younger adults: an epidemiologic necropsy study. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol, 6*(9), 1011-1015.

Peutz, J. (1921). Over een zeer merkwaardige, gecombineerde familiaire polyposis van de slijmliezen van den tractus intestinalis met die van de neuskeelholte en gepaard met eigenaardige pigmentaties van huid-en slijmvliezen. *Ned Maandschr v Gen*(10), 134-146.

Poulsen, M. L., & Bisgaard, M. L. (2008). MUTYH Associated Polyposis (MAP). *Curr Genomics*, *9*(6), 420-435.

Powell, S. M., Petersen, G. M., Krush, A. J., Booker, S., Jen, J., Giardiello, F. M., et al. (1993). Molecular diagnosis of familial adenomatous polyposis. *N Engl J Med*, 329(27), 1982-1987.

Rohlin, A., Engwall, Y., Fritzell, K., Göransson, K., Bergsten, A., Einbeigi, Z., et al. (2011). Inactivation of promoter 1B of APC causes partial gene silencing: evidence for a significant role of the promoter in regulation and causative of familial adenomatous polyposis. *Oncogene*, *30*(50), 4977-4989.

Rohlin, A., Wernersson, J., Engwall, Y., Wiklund, L., Björk, J., & Nordling, M. (2009). Parallel sequencing used in detection of mosaic mutations: comparison with four diagnostic DNA screening techniques. *Hum Mutat, 30*(6), 1012-1020.

Rosty, C., Buchanan, D. D., Walsh, M. D., Pearson, S. A., Pavluk, E., Walters, R. J., et al. (2012). Phenotype and polyp landscape in serrated polyposis syndrome: a series of 100 patients from genetics clinics. *Am J Surg Pathol, 36*(6), 876-882.

Rosty, C., Hewett, D. G., Brown, I. S., Leggett, B. A., & Whitehall, V. L. (2013). Serrated polyps of the large intestine: current understanding of diagnosis, pathogenesis, and clinical management. *J Gastroenterol*, *48*(3), 287-302.

Rosty, C., Walsh, M. D., Walters, R. J., Clendenning, M., Pearson, S. A., Jenkins, M. A., et al. (2013). Multiplicity and molecular heterogeneity of colorectal carcinomas in individuals with serrated polyposis. *Am J Surg Pathol, 37*(3), 434-442.

Rozen, P., & Baratz, M. (1982). Familial juvenile colonic polyposis with associated colon cancer. *Cancer*, *49*(7), 1500-1503.

Ruggieri, V., Pin, E., Russo, M. T., Barone, F., Degan, P., Sanchez, M., et al. (2013a). Loss of MUTYH function in human cells leads to accumulation of oxidative damage and genetic instability. *Oncogene*, *32*(38), 4500-4508.

Rundle, A. G., Lebwohl, B., Vogel, R., Levine, S., & Neugut, A. I. (2008).

Colonoscopic screening in average-risk individuals ages 40 to 49 vs 50 to 59 years.

Gastroenterology, 134(5), 1311-1315.

Russell, A. M., Zhang, J., Luz, J., Hutter, P., Chappuis, P. O., Berthod, C. R., et al. (2006). Prevalence of MYH germline mutations in Swiss APC mutation-negative polyposis patients. *Int J Cancer, 118*(8), 1937-1940.

Sampson, J. R., Dolwani, S., Jones, S., Eccles, D., Ellis, A., Evans, D. G., et al. (2003). Autosomal recessive colorectal adenomatous polyposis due to inherited mutations of MYH. *Lancet*, *362*(9377), 39-41.

Sarasqueta, A. F., Forte, G., Corver, W. E., de Miranda, N. F., Ruano, D., van Eijk, R., et al. (2013). Integral analysis of p53 and its value as prognostic factor in sporadic colon cancer. *BMC Cancer*, *13*, 277.

Sarles, J. C., Consentino, B., Léandri, R., Dor, A. M., & Navarro, P. H. (1987). Mixed familial polyposis syndromes. *Int J Colorectal Dis*, *2*(2), 96-99.

Scott, R. J., Meldrum, C., Crooks, R., Spigelman, A. D., Kirk, J., Tucker, K., et al. (2001). Familial adenomatous polyposis: more evidence for disease diversity and genetic heterogeneity. *Gut*, *48*(4), 508-514.

Seger, R., & Krebs, E. G. (1995). The MAPK signaling cascade. *FASEB J, 9*(9), 726-735.

Shields, J. M., Pruitt, K., McFall, A., Shaub, A., & Der, C. J. (2000). Understanding Ras: 'it ain't over 'til it's over'. *Trends Cell Biol*, *10*(4), 147-154.

Shen, J., Medico, L., & Zhao, H. (2011). Allelic imbalance in BRCA1 and BRCA2 gene expression and familial ovarian cancer. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev,* 20(1), 50-56.

Shinya, H., & Wolff, W. I. (1979). Morphology, anatomic distribution and cancer potential of colonic polyps. *Ann Surg, 190*(6), 679-683.

Short, E., Thomas, L. E., Hurley, J., Jose, S., & Sampson, J. R. (2015). Inherited predisposition to colorectal cancer: towards a more complete picture. *J Med Genet,* 52(12), 791-796.

Sieber, O. M., Lipton, L., Crabtree, M., Heinimann, K., Fidalgo, P., Phillips, R. K., et al. (2003). Multiple colorectal adenomas, classic adenomatous polyposis, and germline mutations in MYH. *N Engl J Med*, *348*(9), 791-799.

Signori, E., Bagni, C., Papa, S., Primerano, B., Rinaldi, M., Amaldi, F., et al. (2001). A somatic mutation in the 5'UTR of BRCA1 gene in sporadic breast cancer causes down-modulation of translation efficiency. *Oncogene*, *20*(33), 4596-4600.

Snover, D.C., Ahnen, D.J. & Burt, R.W. (2010). Serrated polyps of the colon and rectum and serrated ("hyperplastic") polyposis. In: *World Health Organisation*Classification of Tumours of the Digestive System, 4<sup>th</sup> Edition. Ed. Bosman, ST. et al Pub. Springer-Verlag, Berlin.

Soon, M. S., Kozarek, R. A., Ayub, K., Soon, A., Lin, T. Y., & Lin, O. S. (2005).

Screening colonoscopy in Chinese and Western patients: a comparative study. *Am J Gastroenterol*, 100(12), 2749-2755.

Spier, I., Horpaopan, S., Vogt, S., Uhlhaas, S., Morak, M., Stienen, D., et al. (2012). Deep intronic APC mutations explain a substantial proportion of patients with familial or early-onset adenomatous polyposis. *Hum Mutat*, *33*(7), 1045-1050.

Strul, H., Kariv, R., Leshno, M., Halak, A., Jakubowicz, M., Santo, M., et al. (2006). The prevalence rate and anatomic location of colorectal adenoma and cancer detected by colonoscopy in average-risk individuals aged 40-80 years. *Am J Gastroenterol*, *101*(2), 255-262.

Su, L. K., Steinbach, G., Sawyer, J. C., Hindi, M., Ward, P. A., & Lynch, P. M. (2000). Genomic rearrangements of the APC tumor-suppressor gene in familial adenomatous polyposis. *Hum Genet*, *106*(1), 101-107.

Sulová, M., Zídková, K., Kleibl, Z., Stekrová, J., Kebrdlová, V., Bortlík, M., et al. (2007). Mutation analysis of the MYH gene in unrelated Czech APC mutation-negative polyposis patients. *Eur J Cancer*, *43*(10), 1617-1621.

Sweet, K., Willis, J., Zhou, X. P., Gallione, C., Sawada, T., Alhopuro, P., et al. (2005). Molecular classification of patients with unexplained hamartomatous and hyperplastic polyposis. *JAMA*, *294*(19), 2465-2473.

Taupin, D., Lam, W., Rangiah, D., McCallum, L., Whittle, B., Zhang, Y., et al. (2015). A deleterious RNF43 germline mutation in a severely affected serrated

polyposis kindred. Hum Genome Var, 2, 15013.

Terry, M. B., Neugut, A. I., Bostick, R. M., Sandler, R. S., Haile, R. W., Jacobson, J. S., et al. (2002). Risk factors for advanced colorectal adenomas: a pooled analysis. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev, 11(7), 622-629.

Toyota, M., Ahuja, N., Ohe-Toyota, M., Herman, J. G., Baylin, S. B., & Issa, J. P. (1999). CpG island methylator phenotype in colorectal cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 96*(15), 8681-8686.

Tuohy, T. M., & Burt, R. W. (2008). Somatic mosaicism: a cause for unexplained cases of FAP? *Gut*, *57*(1), 10-12.

Tuohy, T. M., Done, M. W., Lewandowski, M. S., Shires, P. M., Saraiya, D. S., Huang, S. C., et al. (2010). Large intron 14 rearrangement in APC results in splice defect and attenuated FAP. *Hum Genet*, *127*(3), 359-369.

Valle, L., Hernández-Illán, E., Bellido, F., Aiza, G., Castillejo, A., Castillejo, M. I., et al. (2014). New insights into POLE and POLD1 germline mutations in familial colorectal cancer and polyposis. *Hum Mol Genet*.

Venesio, T., Balsamo, A., D'Agostino, V. G., & Ranzani, G. N. (2012). MUTYH-associated polyposis (MAP), the syndrome implicating base excision repair in inherited predisposition to colorectal tumors. *Front Oncol*, 2, 83.

Vogelstein, B., Fearon, E. R., Hamilton, S. R., Kern, S. E., Preisinger, A. C., Leppert, M., et al. (1988a). Genetic alterations during colorectal-tumor development. *N Engl J Med*, 319(9), 525-532. Vogelstein, B., & Kinzler, K. W. (2004). Cancer genes and the pathways they control. *Nat Med*, *10*(8), 789-799.

Wagner, J. R., Ge, B., Pokholok, D., Gunderson, K. L., Pastinen, T., & Blanchette, M. (2010). Computational analysis of whole-genome differential allelic expression data in human. *PLoS Comput Biol*, *6*(7), e1000849.

Wang, L., Baudhuin, L. M., Boardman, L. A., Steenblock, K. J., Petersen, G. M., Halling, K. C., et al. (2004). MYH mutations in patients with attenuated and classic polyposis and with young-onset colorectal cancer without polyps. *Gastroenterology*, *127*(1), 9-16.

Weren, R. D., Ligtenberg, M. J., Kets, C. M., de Voer, R. M., Verwiel, E. T., Spruijt, L., et al. (2015). A germline homozygous mutation in the base-excision repair gene NTHL1 causes adenomatous polyposis and colorectal cancer. *Nat Genet*, *47*(6), 668-671.

Westerman, A. M., Entius, M. M., de Baar, E., Boor, P. P., Koole, R., van Velthuysen, M. L., et al. (1999). Peutz-Jeghers syndrome: 78-year follow-up of the original family. *Lancet*, *353*(9160), 1211-1215.

Wilding, J. L., McGowan, S., Liu, Y., & Bodmer, W. F. (2010). Replication error deficient and proficient colorectal cancer gene expression differences caused by 3'UTR polyT sequence deletions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 107*(49), 21058-21063.

Williams, A. R., Balasooriya, B. A., & Day, D. W. (1982). Polyps and cancer of the large bowel: a necropsy study in Liverpool. *Gut*, *23*(10), 835-842.

Williams, G. T., Arthur, J. F., Bussey, H. J., & Morson, B. C. (1980). Metaplastic polyps and polyposis of the colorectum. *Histopathology, 4*(2), 155-170.

Win, A. K., Dowty, J. G., Cleary, S. P., Kim, H., Buchanan, D. D., Young, J. P., et al. (2014). Risk of Colorectal Cancer for Carriers of Mutations in MUTYH, With and Without a Family History of Cancer. *Gastroenterology*, *146*(5), 1208-1211.e1205.

Woodford-Richens, K. L., Rowan, A. J., Gorman, P., Halford, S., Bicknell, D. C., Wasan, H. S., et al. (2001). SMAD4 mutations in colorectal cancer probably occur before chromosomal instability, but after divergence of the microsatellite instability pathway. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *98*(17), 9719-9723.

Yamaguchi, K., Nagayama, S., Shimizu, E., Komura, M., Yamaguchi, R., Shibuya, T., et al. (2016a). Reduced expression of APC-1B but not APC-1A by the deletion of promoter 1B is responsible for familial adenomatous polyposis. *Sci Rep, 6*, 26011.

Yamaji, Y., Mitsushima, T., Ikuma, H., Watabe, H., Okamoto, M., Kawabe, T., et al. (2004). Incidence and recurrence rates of colorectal adenomas estimated by annually repeated colonoscopies on asymptomatic Japanese. *Gut*, *53*(4), 568-572.

Yamane, L., Scapulatempo-Neto, C., Reis, R. M., & Guimarães, D. P. (2014). Serrated pathway in colorectal carcinogenesis. *World J Gastroenterol*, *20*(10), 2634-2640.

Yan, H. H. N., Lai, J. C. W., Ho, S. L., Leung, W. K., Law, W. L., Lee, J. F. Y., et al. (2017). RNF43 germline and somatic mutation in serrated neoplasia pathway and its association with BRAF mutation. *Gut*, *66*(9), 1645-1656.

Yan, H., Dobbie, Z., Gruber, S. B., Markowitz, S., Romans, K., Giardiello, F. M., et al. (2002). Small changes in expression affect predisposition to tumorigenesis. *Nat Genet*, *30*(1), 25-26.

Yeoman, A., Young, J., Arnold, J., Jass, J., & Parry, S. (2007). Hyperplastic polyposis in the New Zealand population: a condition associated with increased colorectal cancer risk and European ancestry. *N Z Med J, 120*(1266), U2827.

Zhou, X. L., Djureinovic, T., Werelius, B., Lindmark, G., Sun, X. F., Lindblom, A., et al. (2005). Germline mutations in the MYH gene in Swedish familial and sporadic colorectal cancer. *Genet Test*, *9*(2), 147-151.